
 

Agenda - Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 4 - Tŷ Hywel 

Meeting date: 1 February 2018 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Steve George 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales
------ 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

   

2 Paper(s) to note 

(09:30 - 09:45)   

2.1 Correspondence from Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 (Pages 1 - 11) 

Paper 1 – Letter to the Chair 

Paper 2 – Cultural Delegation to China 

Paper 3 – Historic Wales Strategic Partnership work streams: progress and 

aspirations 

2.2 Scrutiny of preparations for the 2021 Census of Population  

 (Pages 12 - 13) 

Paper 4 – Correspondence from Julie James AM, Leader of the House and Chief 

Whip. 

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.22 to elect temporary Chair for 

the following meetings: 15 February and 28 February. 

(09:45 - 09:50)   

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: Item 5 and 

the Meeting on 7 February 2018 

   

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



5 The Independent Review of Support for Publishing and Literature 

in Wales: Draft Report 

(09:50 - 10:30) (Pages 14 - 42)  



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas.Davies@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-P/DET/4112/17 
 
Bethan Jenkins AM 
Chair 
Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee 
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff     CF99 1NA 

 
16 January 2018  

 
 
Dear Bethan 
 
During my appearance before the Culture, Welsh Language and Communications 
Committee on 6 December I agreed to provide you with some additional information on 
various issues which arose during the sessions. 
 
In relation to Non-public Funding of the Arts I was asked whether a cultural representative 
had been to Qatar when Ken Skates AM, Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Transport 
visited in early December to attend an investment summit.  I can confirm that as the visit 
was not an export market visit (trade mission) no companies, businesses or artists 
accompanied him on that visit. 
 
You also asked for an evaluation report relating to the Welsh Government’s visit to China. 
This report, produced by Wales Arts International, is attached together with a personal 
account of the trip written by Maggie James, Open Books, who was one of the delegates on 
the trip, which you may also find of interest. 
 
In relation to the Historic Environment you requested a note on the Historic Wales 
partnership, and this too is attached. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 

Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
 Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport 
 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas.Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


1 
 

CULTURAL DELEGATION TO CHINA: WELSH GOVERNMENT TRADE 

MISSION 18-25 FEBRUARY 2017 – REPORT FOR WELSH GOVERNMENT 

BY WALES ARTS INTERNATIONAL 

This cultural delegation from Wales to China aimed to deepen and extend the cultural links between 

the two countries, as set out in an Agreement signed in September 2015 by Vice Minister Ding Wei 

and Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure Ken Skates, during Vice-Premier Mrs Liu 

Yandong’s visit to Wales.  

The delegation hoped to instigate new partnerships, new learning opportunities, and new exchanges 

of exhibitions and performers, to and from both countries. 

Delegates included representatives of artists and cultural organisations and other types of 

businesses, as well as Welsh Government, and Wales Arts International, who organised the visit. This 

was the first time that a Welsh Government trade mission had included arts and culture organisations 

as well as commercial businesses from other sectors.  

The visit was facilitated and many of the meetings organised by the British Council, in particular the 

Shanghai office, who were responsible for co-ordinating and organising the delegates’ schedule 

during their time there. 

The delegation included: 

Name Organisation 

Eluned Haf Wales Arts International 

Elen Roberts Wales Arts International 

Clare Williams Hijinx Theatre 

Maggie James Open Books 

Michael Garvey BBC National Orchestra of Wales 

Peryn Clement-Evans Ensemble Cymru 

Wyn Mason Theatr Genedlaethol Cymru 

Michelle Carwardine- Palmer National Theatre Wales 

Julia Brooker Julia Booker Paintings 

Collette Ellis Flying Viper Illustration 

Peter Owen Welsh Government 

Key Outcomes 

A large number of meetings took place between the delegates and arts venues, organisations, and 

individual artists in various locations across China, including Shanghai and Beijing.  

Many conversations took place, and from these several new partnerships and associations have been 

formed. A number of projects have now begun. Generally these are at fairly early stages of 

development and discussion, and most organisations expect a further period of conversation, 

planning, research and development.  

Some specific projects that are being planned with Chinese partners include: 

 BBC National Orchestra of Wales tour of 6-8 cities across China (possibly including Wuhan, 

Nanjing, Xiamen, Guangzhou and Chongqing) to take place over two weeks (October 2018). 

This will involve approximately 80 musicians (a full orchestral ensemble) with the Chinese-

Pack Page 2



2 
 

born conductor Xian Zhang, and a soloist and repertoire tbc but likely to include some of the 

best-known Western classical repertoire e.g. Beethoven, Tchaikovsky 

 Visit to Hong Kong by Ensemble Cymru (1 March 2018) 

 A ‘Wales night’ at the Shanghai International Arts Festival for Asia Promoters (October 2017) 

 Tour of Hijinx Theatre puppet show Meet Fred to approximately six cities in China, Hong 

Kong, Malaysia, and Taiwan, to spend up to 4 or 5 weeks touring the Far East with cast 

including actors with learning disabilities. Tour to be organised by the commercial promoter A 

C Orange, based in Shenzhen 

 To adapt Wyn Mason’s play Rhith Gân into a bilingual show (Welsh/Cantonese OR 

Welsh/Mandarin) to be performed at the Shanghai International Contemporary Theatre 

Festival (2019) and to tour to other venues in China, directed by Ceri Sherlock of the Hong 

Kong Academy of Performing Arts 

 National Theatre Wales is continuing its conversation with the Shanghai Media Group and 

Shanghai International Arts Festival. It is hoped that NTW will be invited to speak at the 

Festival this autumn (2017). They would also plan to visit Beijing at the same time to converse 

with the National Theatre and various promoters with whom they are already connected 

 National Theatre Wales have also been in conversation with CUBEL to assist with tracking 

down a suitable freelance choreographer to conduct five weeks of tutoring in Guangzhou. 

They have probably secured a suitable practitioner from Wales to do this, an outcome that 

‘highlights the spirit of sharing opportunities for the whole sector - which we all undertook’ 

(Michelle Carwardine-Palmer, NTW).  

Successes and Discoveries 

Combining Artistic, Commercial, and Political Sectors 

A number of delegates commented on the value of having both arts and other business sectors 

represented on the mission, as well as politicians.  This is the first time that arts and cultural 

organisations have been included on a Welsh Government trade mission, possibly because Ken 

Skates’ brief (from May 2016 to present) includes Culture.  

This combination was fruitful, and delegates felt that they had learned a lot from working closely with, 

or observing, those from the other sectors. 

Inviting both the commercial and cultural sector to the trade mission is a real strength to the 

country's international offer. Both sectors really complemented each other and supported one 

another too. I particularly value the business insight provided at the breakfast meeting on the 

first day and [learning about] the Chinese trade and its systems (Tiers and major cities etc). – 

Michelle Carwardine-Palmer 

From my perspective, the combination of government, business, & culture was very helpful – 

Peryn Clement-Evans 

It was good as a group for commercial and arts organisations to realise that we’re not isolated 

sectors. Externally, Wales was able to demonstrate the full range of organisations that we 

have: that we have thriving arts, commercial, and entrepreneurial sectors, completing the 

picture and showing that Wales is just as supportive of its arts as it is of aerospace or 

education or mining. – Michael Garvey 

Welsh Government took a big risk taking a trade and a cultural mission on same trip, and it 

was hugely beneficial to both sides: the real world of business and the world of the arts. We 

learned a great deal from each other. – Clare Williams 

Pack Page 3



3 
 

The artistic organisations felt that their work was given credibility and status through the presence and 

support of the government:  

Going with Ken Skates and having Peter Owen there stepping between Welsh Government 

and the arts fraternity, having the trade mission there, was absolutely invaluable. It endorsed 

what we were doing, it mattered very much to the Chinese that when they liked the show, Ken 

Skates would talk to them and say that he fully endorsed Hijinx and would support to make it 

happen. For our promoters to be invited to receptions in Beijing and Shanghai was terribly 

important, for them to see that Wales really wanted to do business. – Clare Williams 

Soft Power 

As well as the specific projects that are underway, many delegates felt strongly that the visit had been 

very successful in terms of ‘soft power’ and reinforcing the MOU between Wales and China. 

I met with the Minister of Culture and Peter Owen came to represent the Welsh Government. 

It was very evident that the Chinese knew they had a MOU with Wales and recognised the 

effort we were making by bringing a cultural delegation to the country for the first time. The 

impression I got was “Thank you for making the effort, it now makes sense of this MOU we’ve 

got and we can see how we can begin to work with you and value and engage with the 

relationship.” – Michael Garvey  

New Audiences, New Venues, New Funding Opportunities 

Many delegates noted the huge ‘hunger’ among Chinese audiences for Western artistic productions. 

There are various audiences in China that would be likely to be interested in the different projects 

under development; young, wealthy audiences who are keen to see contemporary, innovative, non-

traditional performances, as well as a more traditional audience who are keen to develop their 

familiarity with the canon of Western classical music. 

There’s a growing middle class in China and understanding Western ‘high art’ is high on the 

agenda. So there’s a huge appetite for western classical music. Particularly in (and this is 

possibly what I learned most from the trip) what they call the second tier cities. The big cities 

like Beijing and Shanghai already have a surplus of touring orchestras and can pick and 

choose. The second tier cities are wishing to get to first tier status, so they are even hungrier 

and are building amazing new concert hall complexes. They will spend lots of money and 

energy to get a Western orchestra in their concert halls to show they can compete. – Michael 

Garvey 

Clare Williams of Hijinx described the close, trusting, mutually respectful relationship that she had 

developed with the promoter A C Orange, and that she was now acting as a form of ‘conduit’ in 

introducing them to other companies and productions that might appeal to Chinese audiences: 

There is a huge hunger for content. There are so many venues opening in China, and just not 

enough content to fill them and to programme them. When I came back from China, the 

following week the Chairman and President of A C Orange came to London to see our show 

Meet Fred and to discuss other options. They talked very enthusiastically about working with 

Hijinx so we could help them populate their venues. They were picking my brains: “do you 

know any small-scale opera, immersive theatre, mid-scale dance projects?”. I was surprised 

by the real hunger for anything new or innovative, aimed at a young audience with money in 

their pockets, who are very curious and prepared to spend a lot of money on performance 

that isn’t traditional Chinese performance. – Clare WiIliams 

Delegates described the huge new arts and culture complexes that are being built very rapidly in 

many cities across China, and the need for artistic productions to fill these spaces.  

Pack Page 4



4 
 

I was surprised by the Chinese appetite for exchange of culture and the number of new arts 

venues opened within the last 5 years – Maggie James 

There was a general perception that there is significant funding available, as well as physical spaces, 

in China for arts projects and that what was most needed was artistic content and ideas to fill those 

spaces and make use of that funding.  

The scale of China is enormous. And their wealth, compared with Wales. The Festival of 

Shanghai International Arts, held every October, has four million people come to the festival. 

More than the population of Wales! The Hong Kong Kowloon Cultural Development – built on 

reclaimed land from sea – has a Chinese opera theatre, music hall, exhibition spaces…Big 

cities spring up overnight.  About half of companies are commercial and half state run. Money 

flows in. It feels like a different financial scene to Wales. The arts are a lot more looked after.– 

Wyn Mason 

Differing Interpretations 

An interesting discovery was that sometimes the meaning of the artistic work could be interpreted 

quite differently by Chinese audiences to those in the UK:  

Our work is about having a disability, specifically a learning disability, and I was unsure if the 

Chinese promoters would be interested in it. But what they saw in it was a connection with 

young men and women from the villages and provinces who gravitate towards cities, thinking 

that they’re paved with gold, that they’ll find a job, partner, prosperity. In fact, they arrive and 

are outsiders, don’t really belong, don’t know how to cope with vast city life, and feel very 

isolated. So when the fixer first saw Meet Fred this is what he saw in it; he wasn’t even aware 

there were people with learning disabilities in the cast, but thought it would resonate with 

people in China because Fred is an outsider, not really accepted and trying to find his way in 

the world. – Clare Williams 

This was also commented on by Wyn Mason who said that the story of Li Bai (an 8
th
 century Chinese 

poet) was seen as ‘traditional’ by Chinese audiences and this has in turn had an impact on his way of 

thinking about the story; this will be important in the next R&D phase as he develops the play with 

Chinese actors, director, etc. 

Introductions to Contacts and Key Decision Makers  

Delegates were delighted with the range of contacts that they had made. These were variously 

described as ‘invaluable’. ‘significant’, ‘very broad range’, and so on. Delegates were very pleased 

that they had been introduced not just to a large number of people but also individuals with decision-

making power for their organisations. They credited the involvement of both the British Council and 

the Welsh Government for opening these doors: 

It was very densely programmed; from 8am till 10pm the schedule was relentless, constant 

meetings, absolutely brilliantly orchestrated by the British Council in China. The purpose of 

the meetings was to make initial contacts. These were quite formal and it was left to us to 

follow them up subsequently. It was a very broad range of good contacts with real decision 

makers as opposed to people lower down the chain.  – Clare Williams 

At that British Consulate event in Hong Kong, I did meet a co-director of an architectural 

company with many international offices who I have been visiting (fruitlessly) for several years 

first in Dubai and now HK. He has kindly given me two direct contacts to decision makers who 

commission large scale public art projects in public buildings in HK. As ever, this requires, 

following up and more work, but may lead to my most ambitious work yet. – Julia Brooker 

Pack Page 5



5 
 

Attending alongside the Cabinet Secretary and his official was very important. Their presence 

opened up far more doors for useful high level conversations than I would have been able to 

have had I gone independently. – Michael Garvey 

Fast Development of Projects 

Delegates generally felt that the Chinese organisations and artists whom they met were very open to 

new ideas and keen to start projects quickly and decisively: 

They have a ‘can do’ mindset. They don’t waste time in China. It feels like a land of 

opportunity compared with here in Wales. We have to struggle to get a project off the ground. 

It feels like in China there is more budget and more possibilities. They are open to anything. 

That’s my general impression. They want to co-produce. They say, “it’s more interesting for 

us if you come here with an original idea and we can develop it together from scratch.” 

They’re very open to dialogue with western countries. – Wyn Mason 

I was surprised by how quickly the Chinese can move on making things happen. If we can get 

a Welsh production over to the Valley festival in May this year that would be extraordinary. – 

Michelle Carwardine-Palmer  

This was generally seen as very exciting by the delegates as it offers opportunities to see projects 

develop into realities much more quickly than they might do in other locations. 

Cultural Exchange and Creative Conversations 

Conversations and meetings between artists led to various forms of cultural exchange and mutual 

inspiration for new ideas: 

During my visit to Hangzhou I was invited to several studios, where I was particularly 

interested in some monochromatic paintings, only to find out that all of them were made on 

rice paper, which started a number of interesting conversations about this material, and trying 

the paper out: a lot of technical stuff, but very interesting to me as a painter. (In the UK - not 

specifically Wales - we use cotton rag paper.) We discussed the idea of swopping indigenous 

materials and awarding the most innovative work with some kind of prize. The idea of starting 

an exchange of materials with about 20 artists surprised me because of its simplicity, but also 

its possibility of a rich cultural exchange exhibition. – Maggie James 

Some of these conversations were more likely to result in long-term creative exchanges rather than 

short-term commercial projects, but were equally valuable to those who took part: 

The British Council put together an appropriate timetable so I could have meetings with the 

right people, and also people I wouldn’t ordinarily expect to meet, e.g. the man who runs the 

Chinese Philharmonic Orchestra, which is essentially the equivalent orchestra of NOW in 

China. There’s no commercial gain from that relationship but it’s interesting to meet 

equivalent companies, see if we could join up, swap musicians, work with their education 

team, learn from each other: in short, cultural exchange. – Michael Garvey 

The specifically Welsh experience of living in a bilingual country also had interesting implications 

when considering the development of the Welsh/Chinese version of Wyn Mason’s play: 

The question of language is very sensitive, as in Wales, speaking a minority language, we are 

very sensitive to the politics of language. Which language should Li Bai speak in? That’s a 

crucial question at the moment. The Chinese people in Wales are all Cantonese-speaking, so 

should we reach out to them and collaborate, get them involved in the production, or do we go 

Pack Page 6



6 
 

for Mandarin, with the Shanghai festival in mind? This is new territory for me and I have a lot 

to learn.  

 

British Council and Wales Arts International Support 

Many delegates mentioned the huge support they had received from the British Council and Wales 

Arts International, the excellent care they had experienced, and how packed and productive their 

schedule was, especially in Shanghai.  

The work of the British Council in both Shanghai and Hong Kong on mission’s behalf made a 

huge positive impression. – Peryn Clement-Evans 

British Council did a really great job in Shanghai in particular. The team were very well 

organised and we were very looked after. It was wonderful to meet the top people. They did 

that work for us really.  – Wyn Mason 

The quality of the meetings that were organised together with the efficiency of the logistics 

and the care of the British Council team is all to be applauded and all this made for a 

productive week which I very much hope will assist in turning the MOU which the Welsh 

Government has with the Chinese into a flourishing and practical partnership that shares our 

two cultures and builds our mutual respect and friendship. British Council continues to be the 

vital key that unlocks so much good will and actual collaboration and the UK is an 

immeasurably better country and world ambassador as a result of its existence. – Michael 

Garvey 

I cannot speak more highly of the British Council in China, they were phenomenally helpful 

and efficient and brilliant. It was also terribly well run by Wales Arts International, Eluned and 

Elen, everyone was saying it was one of the best trade missions the Welsh Government had 

ever facilitated, the results were really good. – Clare Williams 

Other Plans 

In addition to those projects outlined above, there are other projects and aspirations under discussion. 

These include: 

Ensemble Cymru: 

 Establishment of Philanthropic base for Ensemble Cymru (3-5 years) 

 Enhancing Ensemble Cymru’s offer to domestic audiences, communities through 

collaboration with Chinese artistes (2-4 years) 

 Build on initial conversations post trip with prospective regional stakeholders (e.g. Conwy 

County Council, North Wales Tourism Partnership and Bangor University (Development 

Department, Confucius Institute, School of Music) 

Open Books: 

 to make sure all new contacts receive e-invites to the next iteration of Open Books show 

curated by Yun Cheagab in Seoul, Korea April 2017 

 to develop ideas with China Academy of Art and Sanshang Contemporary Gallery of Art, 

through Joe Zhou and Grace Wang 

 to respond to China Shanghai International Festival request for more information 

Pack Page 7



7 
 

 to find a mentor (cultural) to help me learn about developing relationships with three identified 

potential Chinese investors 

Asked to elaborate on this last intention, Maggie James of Open Books explained: 

During my recent EXTEND training, organised by engage - I worked with a cultural mentor, 

who was experienced in the specific skills I needed to understand at the 

time.  engage selected this person to work with me. In my dreams I imagine WAI and British 

Council in Shanghai pinpointing a person within an arts organisation who has skilfully worked 

with Chinese investors - who could be based anywhere in the UK - and asking them to be a 

mentor. (However this person would need to be paid - so I’m not sure how that would work!) 

Julia Brooker: 

I have already followed up all contacts made with images, brochures etc. as agreed in 

meetings. I will continue with occasional follow up emails and /or my news; and if budget 

allows I will seriously consider returning in 12 months or so to renew contacts and hopefully 

get commission(s) next time round. 

Hijinx Theatre: 

 A presentation was given by Clare Williams seeking investment for another show to be 

potentially taken to China in 2019 

 If Meet Fred is successful on its initial tour, the plan is for a new production using Chinese 

puppeteers 

Wyn Mason/Theatr Genedlaethol: 

 Turning Rhith Gân into an internationally viable piece of theatre through the next R&D phase, 

to take place either in Asia (China or Hong Kong), or in Wales with Chinese actors, director 

etc. 

National Theatre Wales: 

 Continuing conversation with the British Council in Hong Kong to establish the best 

relationships NTW should pursue.  

 Also in conversation with the Hong Kong Festival and West Kowloon Cultural District as well 

as Macau Festival. 

 

Strategies for Future Development 
Several delegates felt that there was a strong argument for a number of Welsh companies acting 

together and touring China collectively:  

When one company goes abroad there should be a cluster of events around that one 

production. Wales is so small, we need strength in numbers, when we tour internationally 

there should be an exhibition that goes along with the show, for example. There’s an 

opportunity to go over in October and have a Welsh evening at the Shanghai international 

arts festival where various companies can showcase project, might lead to a future Welsh 

theme night, hopefully that will happen and Wales Arts International will be central in 

organising that. – Wyn Mason 

Pack Page 8



8 
 

Michael Garvey of the BBC NOW also felt that it was important for the orchestra to represent Wales 

officially and that this would fulfil an important ambassadorial and diplomatic role for the country more 

broadly: 

As Wales’ national orchestra, I feel that we have a role to play over and above putting on 

concerts and looking after musicians while overseas. I had a vision of us putting on concerts 

at the National Centre for Performing Arts in the centre of Beijing, next to Tiananmen Square 

and opposite the Forbidden Palace, at which Carwyn Jones or Ken Skates attended and it felt 

like far more than just a concert, this was almost a government-to-government friendship or 

cultural exchange. This was the orchestra representing Wales, feeling proud that they can put 

on an international platform the best that Wales has to offer with classical music. There’s a 

huge amount of cultural diplomacy that one can do and utilise cultural assets like an orchestra 

or theatre company and I would love government to recognise potential of what that could 

offer Welsh international trade and  cultural relationships. – Michael Garvey 

Michael also emphasised how essential it is to conduct face-to-face meetings due to the way that 

Chinese business culture works. He described the difference in the way his meetings developed on 

his second visit to China within three months, as he was seen as being more serious and committed 

to doing business there: 

The Chinese clearly take you seriously if you’re prepared to go there and do it face to face, 

exchange gifts; they recognise you mean business. If Wales has this MOU with China and it 

particularly includes culture in it, then Wales needs to be backing this for the long term to 

make sure it is worthwhile. 

There was general agreement on the value of the arts and culture in representing Wales and raising 

the profile of the country and of Welsh arts in China. 

Delegates emphasised their overwhelming gratitude to the British Council, Wales Arts International, 

and the Welsh Government for their support, and hoped that they would continue to support the future 

development of these projects and the relationship between the two countries more generally.  

 

 

Pack Page 9



 

 

Historic Wales Strategic Partnership work streams: progress and aspirations 

 

Collaborative Delivery of Back-Office Functions 

Progress 

Harmonization of HR policies and procedures under way (helping to reduce 

translation costs) 

Joint tendering for audit services (Amgueddfa Cymru and Library)  

Joint payroll admin (Library and RCAHMW) 

Joint IT hosting, back-ups and networking (Library and RCAHMW) 

Joint intensive Welsh language classes (Library and RCAHMW) 

Aspirations 

Joint development of a fully bi-lingual e-commerce platform based on industry best 

practice to enable card payments for shop sales, events ticketing, sales of products 

and services, including picture reproduction licences 

Creation of a common staff recruitment platform 

Removal of barriers to secondment from one institution to another (including VAT 

issues) 

Promoting the use of the Welsh language at work and in everyday life to support the 

Welsh Government’s ‘1 million Welsh speakers by 2050’ strategy, creating learning 

materials based on Wales’s history, culture and heritage 

Customer Service Excellence 

Progress 

Positive relations are being built with Visit Wales 

Aspirations 

Clarity of offer: the development of a branding strategy emphasizing cultural and 

heritage attractions 

Partnerships with other attraction managers, including local authorities, National 

Parks, the National Trust, National Resources Wales and the Historic Houses 

Association 

Development of travel trade products, eg an All Wales Heritage Pass 

Improvement of Cadw’s membership offer, with a better magazine that attracts 

significant advertising revenue 

 

Income Generation 

Pack Page 10



 

 

Progress 

Initial work has begun to develop a Food Strategy, to provide a framework for any 

heritage organisation to promote public engagement with Wales‘s food heritage – 

staging public events, exploring ‘Heritage Wales‘ branding, improving the quality of 

food on offer at Wales’s heritage sites, stressing the local provenance of the 

ingredients, traditional recipes and the links with farming and the historic 

environment 

Aspirations 

Exploiting intellectual property rights more effectively by developing in-house 

expertise and / or by using third-party agencies 

Retail strategy: making our shops destinations in their own right – places people go 

for good-quality gifts; exploring options for online sales and mail order 

Car parks: exploring the potential for greater revenue 

Skills and Development 

Progress 

A sector-wide audit of skill needs is under way to identify demand and skills gaps 

A draft is being prepared of a strategy for professional and digital skills, as well as 

heritage craft skills, underpinned by a business plan for sharing staff development 

and training opportunities across the partnership 

Aspirations 

Contributing to the ‘better jobs closer to home’ agenda 

Supporting the new Curriculum for Wales, the Early Years and ‘a better start in life’ 

agendas based on the partnerships’ already rich programme of learning materials 

and activities, including the scaling up of Amgueddfa Cymru’s museum-based 

primary school residencies and the ‘Language and Play’ pilot partnership between 

Amgueddfa Cymru, Flying Start and Barnardo’s 

Developing apprenticeship, mentoring and traineeship schemes that address skill 

shortages, develop transferable skills, contribute to the knowledge economy and 

support Welsh Government programmes to assist individuals into work, as well as 

securing the sector‘s ability to interpret Wales’ industrial heritage in the future 

Attracting younger people to work in the sector, and actively encouraging those who 

reject formal education, but find heritage craft skills appealing 

Developing a business case for scaling-up our work with the third sector, Health 

Boards and the DWP so as to increase the number of opportunities provided for 

moving people from ill-health and unemployment back into work. 

 

 

Pack Page 11



Julie James AC/AM 
Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip  
 
 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  

Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Elin Jones AM 
Llywydd 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 

 
 
 

10 January 2018  
 
Dear Elin, 
 
Scrutiny of preparations for the 2021 Census of Population 

 
The decennial Census of the population is critical for our understanding of the nation and for 
setting a once in a decade benchmark to produce accurate demographic statistics to ensure 
the statistics we have effectively inform planning, resource allocation and decision making. 
The Census is also vital for our detailed understanding of, for example, the Welsh language, 
housing, and equalities in Wales.   
 
Under the Census Act 1920, the Office for National Statistics (the ONS, as the executive 
arm of the “Statistics Board”) has the responsibility for undertaking the Census in England 
and Wales.  
 
The ONS are now deep in preparation for the 2021 Census of Population. They have 
undertaken significant work on the proposed content for the 2021 Census and earlier this 
year undertook a large-scale test which included parts of North Powys. Furthermore, 
through the Census Transformation Programme they are undertaking a large amount of 
research for future improvements to the way census-type data are collected. This includes 
the use of administrative data from government and other data sources.  
 
Functions in relation to the carrying out of the Census under the Census Act 1920 are 
essentially non-devolved apart from the fact that Welsh Ministers have the power under 
section 3(1)  (as amended by para 3 of Schedule 1 to the Statistics and Registration Service 
Act 2007) to make regulations relating to the administration of the Census in Wales. Article 
4 of the National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of Functions)(No. 2) Order 2006 (S.I. 2006/ 
3334) also provides that the Welsh Ministers must be consulted about any Order in Council 
made under section 1 of the Census Act 1920 directing that a census shall take place. 
 
Welsh Government officials work closely with the ONS at all levels of census governance 
and seek to ensure that the programme considers the needs of Wales.  

Pack Page 12

Agenda Item 2.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


 
I propose it would be beneficial for the ONS to be invited to present an update in early 2018 
to one of our Assembly committees on their preparations for the 2021 Census. This would 
ensure that the Assembly are able to input into discussions on the Census at an earlier 
stage than the making of regulations would allow, and that ONS have more time ahead of 
the final preparations to consider the views of the Assembly.  
 
I would be grateful if you could consider this proposal and if you agree, refer to the relevant 
Committee.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Julie James AC/AM 

Arweinydd y Tŷ a’r Prif Chwip 
Leader of the House and Chief Whip  
 
 
 

Pack Page 13



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 14

Agenda Item 5


	Agenda
	2.1 Correspondence from Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport
	Paper 2
	Paper 3

	2.2 Scrutiny of preparations for the 2021 Census of Population
	5 The Independent Review of Support for Publishing and Literature in Wales: Draft Report

